
Page 1 of 1 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, MAY 24, 2023 

5:30 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
Call to Order and Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Planning and Zoning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes of May 10, 2023 

Public Comments 

Old Business 

2. Land Use Map Amendment (LUMA) from “Low Density Residential” to “Neighborhood 
Commercial and Mixed use” (LU23-001) and Rezoning from C-1 to PC-2 for property at 702 
LeClair Street (RZ23-002) 
Petitioner: Randy Howe, Owner; Bradley Best, Applicant 
Previous discussion: May 10, 2023 
Recommendation: Approval, subject to development agreement 
P&Z Action: Hold the public hearing and make a recommendation to City Council 

3. Zoning Code Text Amendment – Vinyl Siding Allowance in CD-DT (TA23-003)  
Petitioner: Cedar Falls City Council 
Previous discussion: May 10, 2023 
Recommendation: Make a recommendation to City Council 
P&Z Action: Hold the public hearing and make a recommendation to City Council 

New Business 

4. Communication Tower at 4510 Chadwick Road (CT23-001) 
Petitioner: Julie Shebeck, agent for USCOC of Greater Iowa LLC; Ronald Cervetti, property owner   
Previous discussion: None 
Recommendation: Introduction and Discussion 
P&Z Action: Discuss and continue to next meeting 

5. Zoning Code Text Amendment – Parking and Minimum Building Height for Institutional Uses 
in CD-DT (TA23-002)  
Petitioner: City of Cedar Falls 
Previous discussion: None 
Recommendation: Introduction and discussion 
P&Z Action: Discuss and set a date of public hearing 

Commission Updates 

Adjournment 

Reminders: 

* June 14 and June 28 - Planning & Zoning Commission Meetings 
* June 5 and June 19 - City Council Meetings 

1



 1 

Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission 
Regular Meeting 

May 10, 2023 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
MINUTES 

 
The Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission met in regular session on May 10, 2023 at 5:30 
p.m. at City Hall. The following Commission members were present: Crisman, Grybovych, Hartley, 
Larson and Moser. Leeper and Lynch were absent. Karen Howard, Planning and Community Services 
Manager and Jaydevsinh Atodaria, Planner I, were also present.  
 
1.) Acting Chair Hartley noted the Minutes from the April 26, 2023 regular meeting are presented. 

Ms. Crisman made a motion to approve the Minutes as presented. Ms. Moser seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Crisman, Grybovych, Hartley, 
Larson and Moser), and 0 nays.  

 
2.) The first item of business was Land Use Map Amendment (LUMA) and Rezoning from C-1 to 

PC-2 for property at 702 LeClair Street and LUMA from “Low Density Residential” to 
“Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed Use.” Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. 
Atodaria provided background information. He explained that the property is located on West 
4th Street and has access from LeClair Street. It is proposed to amend the Future Land Use 
Map to reflect commercial use of the property and to rezone the property from C-1 Commercial 
to PC-2 Planned Commercial District. He provided the background of the uses of the property 
from 1950 until the present day. He explained that the existing storage building on the site 
exceeds the limit and the property owner is requesting to rezone the property to allow 
continued ongoing business and growth on the property. He also discussed the Master Plan 
for the property and the uses allowed in that area. The submittal provides for limited truck 
traffic and staff feels that the use is reasonable. Renderings were displayed to give an idea of 
the scale of the building and its proportion to the existing site and its surroundings. Site plan 
details, including building design, architectural characteristics, landscaping plan, etc. will be 
reviewed when a site plan for the proposed building is submitted. 

 
 Mr. Atodaria discussed the need for compliance with the Comprehensive Plan and Future 

Land Use Map, explaining that the entire area would need to be amended to “Neighborhood 
Commercial/Mixed Use to align with the C-1 and PC-2 zoning. The amendment will make the 
current and proposed zoning of these properties consistent with the Future Land Use Map. He 
also noted that there is access to public services on the site as well as access to an adequate 
street network. At the time of rezoning, a development agreement will be required that will 
spell out any condition or agreement about the proposed master plan and the anticipated land 
use. Staff recommends adding language to restrict the uses to only those allowed in the C-1 
District plus the wholesale use with associated warehouse space. The development 
agreement will need to be finalized prior to the public hearing at City Council. He explained 
that all site plans in the PC-2 district require approval by the Planning and Zoning Commission 
and City Council and the applicant will need to submit a site plan application that is consistent 
with the submitted master plan and PC-2 district regulations.  

 
 Staff recommends setting a date of public hearing for May 24, 2023 to discuss amending the 

Future Land Use Map to Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed Use as noted in the staff 
report, and to rezone the property at 702 LeClair Street from C-1 Commercial District to PC-2 
Planned Commercial District. 

 

2

Item 1.



 2 

 Brad Best, Peters Construction and Randy Howe, 2314 Sunset Boulevard came forward to 
speak regarding the project and make themselves available for any questions. 

 
 Ms. Moser commended the applicant for holding a neighborhood meeting and feels that was 

very helpful. 
 
 Mr. Larson asked why it was decided to rezone to PC-2 instead of C-3. Ms. Howard explained 

that C-3 is a specific zone for a downtown setting. This is not in a downtown setting and would 
not be appropriate right next to low density residential neighborhood. The PC-2 Zoning would 
provide the flexibility the applicant is seeking to continue his existing operation on this site, but 
at a scale that is appropriate to the adjacency to R-1 neighborhood.   

 
 Mr. Larson made a motion to set a public hearing for the items. Ms. Crisman seconded the 

motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Crisman, Grybovych, Hartley, 
Larson and Moser), and 0 nays. 

 
3.) The next item for consideration by the Commission was a Zoning Code Text Amendment 

regarding vinyl siding allowance in CD-DT. Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item and Ms. 
Howard provided background information. She explained that the City Council has petitioned 
the Planning and Zoning Commission to consider allowing vinyl siding on any new single unit 
dwelling and to consider allowing vinyl siding for new construction of other small residential 
buildings with six or fewer dwelling units (duplexes, townhomes, small apartment buildings, 
etc.). As most of the Commissioners were not on the Commission when this was originally 
brought for consideration, Ms. Howard gave background on what was discussed previously by 
the Planning and Zoning Commission and the decisions that were made with regard to vinyl 
siding. She provided a map of the Downtown Character District Regulating Plan and discussed 
the neighborhood areas that the proposed changes would apply to, including the 
Neighborhood Small and Neighborhood Medium areas. She noted that the 2021 Decision 
Matrix that was used by the Commission when the decision was made was included in the 
packet, which list the pros and cons of vinyl siding considered at the time.  

 
 Mr. Larson feels that the suggestions from Council are clear and make sense to him, and this 

change doesn’t affect anything as far as architectural compliance or compatibility set up in the 
zoning code. He feels that vinyl siding provides an affordable option in the housing market 
today. 

 
 Ms. Grybovych asked if it was worthwhile for Commissioners to go back and view the video of 

the previous conversations with regard to this matter. Ms. Howard stated that staff could find 
the dates of the discussions so that the conversation would be available. 

 
 Acting Chair Hartley stated that he supports the change. 
 
 Ms. Crisman asked if there have been any applicants that have come forward that fall into this 

category of change. Ms. Howard stated that the only new construction that has come through 
has been the Cottage Court project. Ms. Crisman feels that environmental concerns should be 
kept in mind.  

  
 Mr. Larson made a motion to set a public hearing for the item. Ms. Crisman seconded the 

motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Crisman, Grybovych, Hartley, 
Larson and Moser), and 0 nays. 

 
4.) Mr. Atodaria provided an update to the Commission regarding the walking tour being hosted 

by the Historic Preservation Commission in the Seerley Park neighborhood scheduled for May 
25 at 6:00 p.m.  

3

Item 1.



 3 

 
5.) As there were no further comments, Ms. Crisman made a motion to adjourn. Ms. Grybovych 

seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Crisman, 
Grybovych, Hartley, Larson and Moser), and 0 nays. 

 
The meeting adjourned at 6:05 p.m. 
   
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Karen Howard       Joanne Goodrich  
Community Services Manager    Administrative Assistant 
 

4

Item 1.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
             TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), City Planner I 

 DATE: May 24, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning Request for property at 702 LeClair Street (RZ23-002) 
  Land Use Map Amendment (LU23-001) 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Amend Future Land Use Map to reflect commercial use of the property. 
Rezone property from C-1 Commercial District to PC-2: Planned Commercial 
District. 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Randy Howe, Owner; Bradley Best, Applicant  
 

LOCATION: 
 

702 LeClair Street  

 
PROPOSAL 
The proposal is to rezone a 2.26-acre (94,446 SF) parcel owned by Randy Howe from C-1 
Commercial District to PC-2 Planned Commercial District. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The subject property is Lot 21 of the Star View subdivision platted in 1950. The first building on 
the subject property was a 1-story office building built in 1965, located on the north portion of 
the parcel. The owner has operated a wholesale business, Advanced Technical Services, on 
the site for several decades. Wholesale businesses are not allowed in the C-1 Zone, so the 
current business is a nonconforming use.  In 2011, a 3,600 sq. ft. warehouse/storage building 
was added on site, southwest of the office building. 
 
With changes ongoing in the business including general supply chain issues in the market, and 
the associated need for pre-ordering and warehousing of materials and equipment for clients, 
the applicant would like to add another approximately 7000 square foot storage building on site 
that will help in operation of the business. However, The C-1 district has restrictions on the 
amount of storage allowed on the site and with the current storage building the site already 
exceeds that limit.    
 
 

5

Item 2.



Therefore, Mr. Howe has requested a rezoning of the property from C-1 Commercial to the 
PC-2 Planned Commercial District to continue the ongoing business on the property at 702 Le 
Clair Street. A master plan for the site has been submitted for review along with supplemental 
materials for the project. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
CURRENT ZONING 
The purpose of the C-1 Commercial District is to provide commercial uses to nearby residence 
districts which support the daily needs of the nearby residents. The subject property and two 
properties east of LeClair Street are zoned C-1, one of which has a business/professional 
office allowed in the district and the other is vacant. 
 
 
PROPOSED ZONING 
The PC-2 Planned Commercial District Zone 
will allow the applicant to add a 6,900 square 
foot, one-story building to expand his 
business. The purpose of the PC-2 Planned 
Commercial district is to facilitate imaginative 
and comprehensively planned commercial 
developments that are harmoniously 
designed to complement the surrounding 
community. As per the PC-2 district 
guidelines, smaller tracts are eligible for such 
zoning if the site is amenable to long-term 
planning and in cases where careful site 
planning is needed. As part of the process, 
the PC-2 district requires the preparation of a 
master plan and a developmental 
procedures agreement that will allow more 
controlled development on the site, keeping 
in mind the adjacent uses. The 
developmental procedures agreement 
establishes the anticipated use of the site 
and any specific requirements, restrictions, 
or limitations to guide development of the 
site.  
 
The PC-2 zone allows any use that is allowed in any commercial zone with some limitations. 
Looking at the uses allowed in other commercial zones, “wholesale warehouse or business” is 
an allowed use in the C-3 Commercial District, so would also be allowed in PC-2.  However, 
staff also notes that the PC-2 Zone prohibits “any use with physical and operational 
characteristics or requirements that generate substantial truck traffic, noise, odor, dust, glare, 
heat or vibrations, or of a character not compatible with the high aesthetic standards of the 
district.” One of the examples of prohibited uses is “wholesaling/warehousing motor freight 
terminal.” The applicant has provided information about the operation of the site and limited 
amount of truck traffic, so staff finds that the proposed use is reasonable and does not have 
the same intensive industrial characteristics of a warehousing and freight terminal, so could be 
an allowed in the PC-2 Zone, provided the master plan and developmental procedures 

6

Item 2.



agreement notes conditions and limitations to ensure that it remains compatible with its 
adjacency to residential areas.  
 
The proposed master plan (image above) includes the existing and proposed buildings located 
on the site, the driveways used to access the site, the stormwater detention basin, and 
landscaping. The master plan also shows a future trail extension with a bench to provide a bike 
path amenity for the public. The applicant has no plans currently for the area south of the 
proposed new storage building, so will maintain this as landscaped greenspace.   
 
The master plan has been well thought out and includes elements like landscape screening, 
stormwater detention basin, and greater setback from adjacent residential uses to the west of 
the property, which all align well with PC-2 district regulations. In addition, the applicant has 
presented renderings of the proposed building (see below), to give an idea about the scale of 
the building and its proportion to the existing site and immediate surroundings. The proposed 
renderings don’t show any details about the building materials, openings, and other 
architectural details, which all will be reviewed when the site plan for the new building is 
submitted to ensure its compliance with the PC-2 district regulations.

 
 
Staff also took some existing site pictures 
(See images to right and below) that show the 
buildings on site with existing landscaping 
around them, just to give an idea about the 
proposed project and existing site context. 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The applicant held a neighborhood meeting on April 5th, 2023 to discuss the proposed project 
and has included several suggestions from the neighbors in the proposal including reducing 
the height of the building, adjusting security lighting to eliminate glare, adding a bike path 
amenity, and will also be offering neighbors to have some input about landscaping plan along 

Existing Site 

Existing Site Existing Site 

7

Item 2.



the west side of the property. These items are stated in the letter of intent submitted as part of 
the rezoning application. Staff notes that some of the site plan level details including building 
design, architectural characteristics, landscaping plan, etc. will be reviewed in detail when the 
site plan for the proposed building is submitted for review, to ensure its compliance with the 
PC-2 district regulations. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND FUTURE LAND USE MAP 
The Future Land Use Map identifies the subject parcel as low density residential with typical 
densities of 1 to 4 units per acre. In this case, both the current zoning C-1 Commercial Zoning 
district and the proposed PC-2 Planned Commercial Zoning district are not consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan and Future Land Use Map.  
 
The subject property, in addition to two properties east of LeClair Street, are currently zoned 
C-1 and two have commercial uses and the other is an undeveloped parcel. These properties 
are designated as low-density residential on the Future Land Use map. To align with the C-1 
Commercial District and the proposed PC-2 Planned Commercial District, the entire area 
outlined in blue, inclusive of the subject property (marked by hatched area and a star), will 
need to be amended to “Neighborhood Commercial/Mixed Use” designated by pink color on 
the future land use map.  

 
A proposal to amend the Future Land Use Map concurrent with the rezoning consideration will 
make the current and proposed zoning of these properties and the Future Land Use Map 
consistent. The “Neighborhood Commercial Mixed Use” designation includes a range of low-
impact commercial uses, providing a variety of neighborhood services. As per the 
comprehensive plan, the “Neighborhood Commercial Mixed Use” designation should be 
located along major streets, promotes buffering to eliminate negative effects on surrounding 
residential areas, and have good landscaping for enhancement of the site as well as provide a 
visual buffer. With the proposal of the master plan that aligns with the intent of the 
“Neighborhood Commercial Mixed Use” designation and keeping in mind the uses in the 

8

Item 2.



immediate surroundings of the site, this change will be a more appropriate land use 
designation for the site and the area east of LeClair Street currently zoned C-1.   
 
ACCESS TO PUBLIC SERVICES 
The property is in a developed area of the city and has access to all utilities and public 
services on site. 
 
ACCESS TO ADEQUATE STREET NETWORK 
The property is located on the NW corner of LeClair Street and W. 1st Street. The property 
currently has access from LeClair Street.  
 
To eliminate any traffic concerns, the applicant has provided a traffic summary of how the site 
is used currently, with local delivery/pickup trucks approximately three times per week and 
about two to three semis per week. With the proposal for a new building, the applicant is 
expecting the traffic volume to remain unchanged. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
City staff mailed letters to the surrounding property owners notifying them of the rezoning 
request on May 2, 2023.  
 
Notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing was published in the Waterloo-
Cedar Falls Courier on May 16, 2023. 
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
The City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities, have no concerns about the proposed 
rezoning request. The PC-2 Planned Commercial District requires the submittal and adoption 
of a master plan and developmental procedures agreement that outlines any specific 
conditions pertaining to the development, any timing and phasing of the project, and other 
details as necessary.  
 
For this case, staff recommends including the following conditions in the developmental 
procedures agreement: 

1. To restrict the allowed uses to only those uses allowed in the C-1, Commercial District 
and additionally allow one “wholesale business use with associated warehouse space”, 
with a limitation of warehouse space not to exceed 11,000 square feet in total. 

2. To construct a 4-foot-wide public sidewalk along the LeClair Street frontage of the subject 
property and connect it to the 1st Street trail if the undeveloped area south of the 
proposed storage building is developed in the future. 

3. Noting that no access drive will be granted off W. 1st Street for the subject property. 
4. Ensure that the intensity and scale of the “wholesale business use with associated 

warehouse space” may not increase to a level that the use of the subject property 
changes to “wholesaling/warehousing motor freight terminal,” which is a prohibited use in 
the PC-2 Planned Commercial District. 
 

With these conditions, any future use of the property would be of an intensity consistent with its 
current C-1 zoning and adjacency to residential but will allow a long-time business to continue 
in its existing location. This development agreement must be finalized prior to the public 
hearing at the City Council. 
 
The PC-2 Planned Commercial Zoning District requires all site plans in the district to be 

9

Item 2.



approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council. If the rezoning is 
approved, the applicant will submit a site plan application that that is consistent with the 
submitted master plan and developmental procedures agreement and that meets all PC-2 
District regulations. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends approval of LU23-001, land use map amendment, amending the area to 
“Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed Use” as noted in the above staff report, and RZ23-002, 
a request to rezone the property at 702 LeClair Street from C-1 Commercial District to PC-2 
Planned Commercial District subject to compliance with the submitted master plan and a 
developmental procedures agreement that includes the conditions noted in the staff report 
above and any comments or directions specified by the Planning and Zoning Commission. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction 
5/10/2023 

Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provide background  
information. He explained that the property is located on West 4th Street and has access  
from LeClair Street. It is proposed to amend the Future Land Use Map to reflect  
commercial use of the property and to rezone the property from C-1 Commercial to PC-2  
Planned Commercial District. He provided the background of the uses of the property  
from 1950 until now, and explained that the existing storage building on the site exceeds  
the required limit and the property owner is requesting to rezone the property to allow  
continued ongoing business and growth on the property. He also discussed the Master  
Plan for the property and the uses allowed in that area. The submittal provides for limited  
truck traffic and staff feels that the use is reasonable. Renderings were displayed to give  
an idea of the scale of the building and its proportion to the existing site and its  
surroundings. Site plan details, including building design, architectural characteristics,  
landscaping plan, etc. will be reviewed with a site plan for the proposed building is  
submitted. 

 
Mr. Atodaria discussed the need for compliance with the Comprehensive Plan and 
Future Land Use Map, explaining that the entire area would need to be amended to 
“Neighborhood Commercial/Mixed Use to align with the C-1 and PC-2 zoning. The 
amendment will make the current and proposed zoning of these properties consistent 
with the Future Land Use Map. He also noted that there is access to public services on 
the site as well as access to an adequate street network. At the time of rezoning, a 
development agreement will be required that will spell out any condition or agreement 
about the proposed master plan and the anticipated land use. Staff recommends 
adding language to restrict the uses to only those allowed in the C-1 District plus the 
whole sale use and associated warehouse space. The development agreement will 
need to be finalized prior to the public hearing at City Council. He explained that all site 
plans in the PC-2 district require approval by the Planning and Zoning Commission and 
City Council and the applicant will need to submit a site plan application that is 
consistent with the submitted master plan and PC-2 district regulations. 

 
Staff recommends setting a date of public hearing for May 24, 2023 to discuss 
amending the Future Land Use Map to Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed Use as 
noted in the staff report, and to rezone the property at 702 LeClair Street from C-1 
Commercial District to PC-2 Planned Commercial District. 

 
Brad Best, Peters Construction and Randy Howe, 2314 Sunset Boulevard came forward  
to speak regarding the project and make themselves available for any questions. 
 

10

Item 2.



Ms. Moser addressed the fact that there was a neighborhood meeting and feels that was 
very helpful. 
 
Mr. Larson asked why it was decided to rezone to PC-2 instead of C-3. Ms. Howard 
explained that C-3 is a specific zone for a downtown setting. This is not in a downtown 
setting and it’s just for this particular business. C-3 zoning would not be consistent as it 
has R-1 zoning next to it.  
 
Mr. Larson made a motion to set a public hearing for the items. Ms. Crisman seconded 
the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Crisman, Grybovych, 
Hartley, Larson and Moser), and 0 nays. 

 
Discussion  
& Vote 
5/24/2023 

  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

   

11

Item 2.



1st St Trail

Sta
nle

y S
t

LeC
lair

 St

W 1st St ®¬57

R-1

R-1

C-1

R-5

A-1

702

612

626

619

704

611

703

625

701 713707

605

331
5

351
2

Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission
May 10, 2023

Rezoning from C-1 to PC-2
702 Le Clair Street
(SP23-003)

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Orchard Dr

Rainbow Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
R d

C enter St

W Ridgeway Ave

Ma
in

St

E Greenhill Rd

W 12th St

W 1st St

E Vikin

gRd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

SM
ain

St

L incoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

W
Green hill Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27

£¤218

£¤20 £¤63

^
Location

Map

12

Item 2.



ENGINEERING & ENVIRONMENTAL
Ó 

13

Item 2.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APRIL 6, 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
IOWA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WISCONSIN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
40 FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
\\westunion\Drawings\C3D\22\22-1118 Cedar Falls - ATS\22-1118_Design - Copy.dwg, FG-11x17 Exhibit

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLOT DATE: 4/6/234/6/23

AutoCAD SHX Text
2023 FEHR GRAHAM   FEHR GRAHAM  

AutoCAD SHX Text
FUTURE TRAIL LANDSCAPING

AutoCAD SHX Text
LACLAIR ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 1ST ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUILDING 115' X 60'; 6900 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  PCC STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING STORAGE BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PCC DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED STORM WATER DETENTION BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 16 WILLIAM PENDRY 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 17 MARK DEGROOTE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 18 SCOTT GILROY 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 19 DOUGLAS WIDEN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 20 MELODY KING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER RANDY HOWE 2314 SUNSET BLVD CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE DEVELOPMENT PLAN  LOT 21, STAR VIEW ADDITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED GRASS UNDEVELOPED AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED ZONING: PC-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 21

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED TREE, TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING TREES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED DRIVEWAY



14

Item 2.



Advanced Technical Services – South Storage Building Exterior Site Perspectives – 4/7/23 
 

 

 
 

15

Item 2.



16

Item 2.



Traffic Summary 
Advanced Technical Services, 703 LeClair Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 

Exis�ng Site 

Advanced Technical Services has operated from this loca�on (702 LeClair Street) for several 
decades with the most recent site improvements made in 2011.  The site consists of an 
office building with outdoor and indoor equipment storage areas.  Currently, six employees 
work at this loca�on.  Traffic to this property can be summarized as follows: 

• UPS delivery in morning and a�ernoon, daily
• FedEx delivery approximately three �mes per week
• Local delivery/pickup trucks approximately three �mes per week
• Approximately one customer per day to the office
• Typical employee traffic for lunch, errands, etc..
• Mowing service one �me per week during warm weather months
• Two to three semis per week

Altogether, approximately fi�een vehicles per day visit this loca�on. 

Two driveways exist on the site.  These were sized to allow a semi to enter, exit and work 
well – see atached exhibit indica�ng a vehicle path.  Equipment/materials are 
loaded/unloaded from the driveway area and moved to either indoor or outdoor storage 
areas.  There are parking spaces for nine plus vehicles (employees and customers).  This has 
proven to be an adequate amount for the current opera�on. 

Proposed Improvements 

The proposed project will construct a storage building to protect some of the materials and 
equipment currently stored outside.  A driveway will connect the exis�ng driveway, interior 
to the lot, to the exis�ng paved driveway area. No new street access is proposed. 

The number of employees is not changing with this project nor is the type of work.  There 
will be no manufacturing taking place.  Delivery and employee/customer traffic are 
expected to remain the same as exis�ng, with approximately fi�een vehicles per day. 

Conclusion 

Traffic volume and type of traffic to 702 LeClair Street are expected to be unchanged with 
the proposed project.  The driveway and parking infrastructure are sa�sfactory for the 
current and proposed use. 

17

Item 2.



ENGINEERING & ENVIRONMENTAL
Ó 18

Item 2.

AutoCAD SHX Text
\\westunion\Drawings\C3D\22\22-1118 Cedar Falls - ATS\22-1118_Design - Copy.dwg, FG-8.5x11

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
IOWA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WISCONSIN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLOT DATE: 3/28/233/28/23

AutoCAD SHX Text
2023 FEHR GRAHAM   FEHR GRAHAM  

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER RANDY HOWE 2314 SUNSET BLVD CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
60 FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAFFIC DESCRIPTION  SEMI PULLS INTO NORTH DRIVEWAY, TURNS INTO SOUTH DRIVEWAY TO BACK INTO LOADING AREA, WHERE THEY CAN THEN EXIT SOUTH DRIVE. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LACLAIR ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 1ST ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUILDING 120' X 60'; 7200 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  PCC STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING STORAGE BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 21

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAFFIC SUMMARY EXHIBIT 702 LECLAIR STREET



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Planning and Zoning Commission 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: May 24, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Petition from City Council to amend the Downtown Character District (TA23-003) 

 

 
In 2022 City Council made several referrals to the Planning and Zoning Commission requesting 
consideration for various changes to the Downtown Character District Code. The Planning and 
Zoning Commission has been systematically working through each of those referrals over the last 
year. This memo is to introduce one of those petitions from the City Council related to the building 
materials standards in the code, specifically the allowance for vinyl siding in the Neighborhood 
Frontage Areas.  
 
Background 
The previous Central Business District (CBD) Overlay had building materials standards for new 
buildings, which did not include an allowance for vinyl siding for commercial, mixed-use and multi-
unit residential buildings containing more than 6 units. In neighborhood areas surrounding 
downtown that were not in the CBD Overlay, there were previously no standards for exterior 
building materials.  
 
The adopted Downtown Character District Code prohibits vinyl siding in the Urban General, Urban 
General 2, and Storefront Areas. During public review of the new code prior to adoption, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission had several discussions about allowance for vinyl siding in the 
Neighborhood Frontage Areas and considered the pros and cons (see attached excerpt of the 
decision matrix).  At that time, the Commission decided not to allow vinyl siding on any new 
buildings. However, the Commission decided that vinyl siding should be allowed on any existing 
single-unit dwelling, even if it is not currently clad in vinyl siding. For example, a homeowner could 
replace the wood siding on their existing house with vinyl siding. In addition, for any existing 
building that is currently clad with vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or repaired with vinyl 
siding and any addition(s) may be clad with vinyl siding.      
 
Council Petition 
The Council indicated they would like to maintain the prohibition of vinyl siding in the downtown 
core areas – Urban General, Urban General 2, and Storefront frontage areas in the Downtown 
Character District similar to what was disallowed in the previous CBD Overlay.  However, the 
Council indicated that they would like the Commission to consider allowing vinyl siding in the 
Neighborhood Frontage Areas on any new single unit dwelling and also consider allowing for new 

19

Item 3.



 
 

construction of other small residential buildings, such as duplexes, townhomes, and small 
apartment buildings up to 6 units.  
 
At your last meeting, there was a request for a link to the video recording of the April 14, 2021 
meeting where the Commission specifically discussed allowing the use of vinyl siding in the 
Neighborhood Frontages. Here is the link to that P&Z meeting with the discussion about vinyl 
siding starting at about 1:56: 
https://meetings.municode.com/multimediaPage/index?cc=CEDARFLS&mm=c4d50e74f9ea446
593cbec201ec7249d&me=4cdd4e408e1841d7b713389df74a2f9d&ts=3109&ei=6ce2fda7ac0e4
59d9b1245971e00a4e8 
   
For your reference, the section that establishes the standards for building materials in the current 
code reads as follows (language related to vinyl siding is highlighted):  
 

Sec. 26-194. Architectural standards. 
C. Architectural Standards: Building Walls. 

1. Purpose and Intent.  
BUILDING FACADES define the PUBLIC REALM, or STREET-SPACE. All walls should express the construction 
techniques and structural constraints of their building materials. These standards are intended to 
achieve simple configurations and solid craftsmanship.  

2. Applicability.  
The standards in this section apply to all building walls that are CLEARLY VISIBLE FROM THE STREET-
SPACE. Where expressly stated, they also apply to additional building elevations.  

3. Primary FACADE materials.  
a. Any of the following building materials shall be used on a minimum of 75 percent of the 

FACADE area. This measurement shall be calculated as a percentage of the wall portion of the 
FACADE, exclusive of FENESTRATION.  
(i) Brick and terra cotta;  
(ii) Natural stone;  
(iii) Stucco (cement plaster); prefabricated stucco panels and sprayed on stucco finishes are 

prohibited;  
(iv) Cast iron, copper, stainless steel (18-8 or better), or titanium metal.  

b. For Neighborhood Frontages only:  
(i) Wood or approved fiber cement siding;  
(ii) Vinyl siding may be used to replace other types of siding on existing single-unit residential 

buildings. On other buildings with existing vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or 
repaired with vinyl siding and any additions may be clad with vinyl siding.  

c. Additional materials may be proposed to the zoning administrator and ZRC for review under 
the EQUIVALENT OR BETTER standard, see section B.2.b above.  

4. Secondary materials.  
Any of the following materials are permitted on a maximum of 25 percent of the FACADE area and 
on all side and rear elevations.  
a. All permitted primary materials;  
b. Metal (heavy gauge & non-reflective);  
c. Ground- or split-faced block (integrally colored);  
d. Glass block;  
e. Decorative tile;  
f. Pre-cast masonry;  
g. Durable foam-based products, such as Fypon, may be used for architectural detailing; and  

20

Item 3.

https://meetings.municode.com/multimediaPage/index?cc=CEDARFLS&mm=c4d50e74f9ea446593cbec201ec7249d&me=4cdd4e408e1841d7b713389df74a2f9d&ts=3109&ei=6ce2fda7ac0e459d9b1245971e00a4e8
https://meetings.municode.com/multimediaPage/index?cc=CEDARFLS&mm=c4d50e74f9ea446593cbec201ec7249d&me=4cdd4e408e1841d7b713389df74a2f9d&ts=3109&ei=6ce2fda7ac0e459d9b1245971e00a4e8
https://meetings.municode.com/multimediaPage/index?cc=CEDARFLS&mm=c4d50e74f9ea446593cbec201ec7249d&me=4cdd4e408e1841d7b713389df74a2f9d&ts=3109&ei=6ce2fda7ac0e459d9b1245971e00a4e8


 
 

h. EIFS (Exterior Insulation and Finishing System) and other synthetic materials may be used 
above the second story , if on the ZRC Approved Alternate Materials List.  

5. Prohibited materials.  
a. Styrofoam;  
b. Vinyl (except as noted above for neighborhood frontages) and aluminum siding.  

6. Configurations and techniques.  
a. When different materials are used on a facade, heavier materials shall be used below lighter 

materials (i.e., stone below brick; brick below metal panel; brick below siding).  
b. All masonry, including brick, block, and stone, shall be in an apparent load-bearing 

configuration.  
c. Where siding, including panels, is not mitered at corners, siding shall incorporate corner 

boards on the outside building corners to conceal raw edges.  
d. Wall openings (FENESTRATION) must:  

(i) have a vertical dimension equal to or greater than the horizontal dimension unless 
otherwise specifically permitted in these district standards;  

(ii) correspond to the interior space and shall not span across building structure such as a 
floor or wall.  

e. Wood siding and wood simulation materials.  
(i) Horizontal siding shall be configured with a maximum board exposure of eight inches.  
(ii) Board and batten siding shall have a maximum board width of ten inches.  
(iii) Siding and shingles shall be smooth, not rough-sawn finish.  
(iv) Shall not come in contact with the ground surface.  

f. Stucco.  
(i) Shall have a smooth or sand finish only; no rough textured finish.  
(ii) Shall not come in contact with the ground surface.  

g. All exposed masonry walls (i.e., STREET WALLS, garden and other free-standing walls, and 
parapets) shall have a cap or coping to protect the top of the wall from weather. 

 
Recommendation 
 
As per Council’s petition and the Commission discussion at the last meeting, staff recommends 
that the Commission hold the public hearing and forward a recommendation for one or more of 
the following options to the City Council:  
 

1. Deny the requested petition and recommend no change to the current ordinance;  
 

2. Amend the ordinance to allow vinyl siding on single-unit dwellings in the Neighborhood 
Frontages, as follows:  
 

b. For Neighborhood Frontages only:  
(i) Wood or approved fiber cement siding;  
(ii) Vinyl siding may be used to replace other types of siding on existing single-unit residential 

buildings only, except as noted in the paragraph (iii) below;  
(iii) On other buildings with existing vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or repaired with 

vinyl siding and any additions may be clad with vinyl siding.  
 

3. Amend the ordinance to allow vinyl siding on residential buildings with six or fewer dwelling 
units in the Neighborhood Frontages.  

 
b. For Neighborhood Frontages only:  

21

Item 3.



 
 

(i) Wood or approved fiber cement siding;  
(ii) Vinyl siding may be used to replace other types of siding on existing single-unit residential 

buildings with six or fewer dwelling units only, except as noted in the paragraph (iii) below;  
(iii) On other buildings with existing vinyl siding, that siding may be replaced or repaired with 

vinyl siding and any additions may be clad with vinyl siding.  
 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES 

Introduction 

05/10/23 
 

The next item for consideration by the Commission was a Zoning Code Text 
Amendment regarding vinyl siding allowance in CD-DT. Acting Chair Hartley 
introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided background information. She explained 
that the City Council has petitioned the Planning and Zoning Commission to consider 
allowing vinyl siding on any new single unit dwelling and to consider allowing vinyl 
siding for new construction of other small residential buildings with six or fewer 
dwelling units (duplexes, townhomes, small apartment buildings, etc.). As most of the 
Commissioners were not on the Commission when this was originally brought for 
consideration, Ms. Howard gave background on what was discussed previously by 
the Planning and Zoning Commission and the decisions that were made with regard 
to vinyl siding. She provided a map of the Downtown Character District Regulating 
Plan and discussed the neighborhood areas that the proposed changes would apply 
to, including the Neighborhood Small and Neighborhood Medium areas. She noted 
that the 2021 Decision Matrix that was used by the Commission when the decision 
was made was included in the packet, which list the pros and cons of vinyl siding 
considered at the time.  
 
Mr. Larson feels that the suggestions from Council are clear and make sense to him, 
and this change doesn’t affect anything as far as architectural compliance or 
compatibility set up in the zoning code. He feels that vinyl siding provides an 
affordable option in the housing market today. 
 
Ms. Grybovych asked if it was worthwhile for Commissioners to go back and view the 
video of the previous conversations with regard to this matter. Ms. Howard stated that 
staff could find the dates of the discussions so that the conversation would be 
available. 
 
Acting Chair Hartley stated that he supports the change. 
 
Ms. Crisman asked if there have been any applicants that have come forward that fall 
into this category of change. Ms. Howard stated that the only new construction that 
has come through has been the Cottage Court project. Ms. Crisman feels that 
environmental concerns should be kept in mind.  
  
Mr. Larson made a motion to set a public hearing for the item. Ms. Crisman seconded 
the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Crisman, Grybovych, 
Hartley, Larson and Moser), and 0 nays. 

  
   

Public hearing and 

Vote 

5/24/2023 

 
 

 

22

Item 3.



 

 

23

Item 3.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 TO: Planning and Zoning Commission 

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: May 24, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Request for a communication tower at 4510 Chadwick Rd (CT23-001) 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Request for a new 115 ft wireless communications tower 

PETITIONER: 
 

Julie Shebeck, agent for USCOC of Greater Iowa LLC; Ronald Cervetti, 
property owner.   
 

LOCATION: 
 

4510 Chadwick Road, Cedar Falls, IA- Southwest of Greenhill Road and Cedar 
Heights Drive.   

 

 
PROPOSAL:  
USCOC of Greater Iowa LLC 
proposes a new 115 ft wireless 
communications tower at 4510 
Chadwick Road. The monopole 
tower structure will be 
“camouflaged” as a pole, where 
the antennas will be placed 
inside the pole screening the 
antennas from public view.  The 
proposed tower lease area is 15’ 
x 23’ area next to the existing 
trash enclosure. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
The applicant proposes the site 
of the new communications tower 
to be located at 4510 Chadwick 
Road.  The property is owned by Ronald Cervetti. The property consists of a developed site with 
medical offices.  The proposed leased area for the communications tower is next to the existing 
trash enclosure on the southwest corner of the property that is on the side of the building.  The 
leased area is also within the 100-year floodplain of Dry Run Creek.   

24

Item 4.



 
The Code is designed to encourage towers to be located in non-residential zoning districts and 
minimize the total number of communication towers within the City Limits.      
 
STAFF ANALYSIS: 
 
Use: 
1405 Greenhill Road is within the C-2 Zoning District.  Commercial communication towers are 
allowed in the C-2 Zoning District as a principal use or accessory use with the recommendation 
of the Planning and Zoning Commission and approval of City Council. In this case the tower will 
be a second principal use on this property.  
 

 
 
The land to the south is developed as multi-family in the C-2 district; there are duplexes to the 
west in the MU district; townhomes to the north in the C-1 District; and a church to the east that 
is in the R-2 district.  The closest residential building is 150 feet to the south.   
 
 

25

Item 4.



Floodplain: 
Floodplain Manager, Thom Weintraut, 
reviewed the proposal and has issued a 
floodplain permit for the project.   
 
Need: 
Per Iowa Code, an applicant applying for a 
new communications tower shall provide an 
explanation regarding the reason for 
choosing the proposed location by the 
individual who has responsibility over the 
placement of the tower.  The applicant 
provided a statement from the Radio 
Frequency Engineer stating that the tower 
is needed to meet the current and future 
wireless data and voice service needs of 
the area.  The Engineer also provided the 
map of the area that the new tower will cover (image to the right). 
 
Design: 
The applicant proposes the leased area to be enclosed with a brick fence that matches the trash 
enclosure on site.  The brick wall around the leased area will be six feet six inches tall.  The 
applicant proposes three coniferous trees that will screen the fence from the properties to the 
south.  The trash enclosure will screen the  ground equipment  from the east as shown in the 
photo simulation picture to the right. The existing landscaping on the site will screen the tower 
from the properties to the west.   
 
The Height limit in the C-2 Zoning District 
for Towers is 120 feet or less.  The 
applicant proposes the tower to be 115 
feet tall. FAA (Federal Aviation 
Administration) will not require a light on 
the top of the tower.  The antennas will be 
screened from the public view and be 
enclosed in the pole.   
 
 
The applicant provided their FAA permit to 
place the tower at 4510 Chadwick Road.  
The placement of the leased area also 
meets the zoning district’s setback 
requirements. The location also meets the 
separation requirement from any other 
tower (1,500 feet).  The applicant has 
indicated that the tower will not be an 
obstruction to air navigation, and it will be 
built to withstand the elements (wind 
pressure of 80 miles an hour with one-half 
inch ice load). Design requirements are 
satisfied.  

26

Item 4.



 
Maintenance Plan:  
After the tower is complete, routine maintenance from a technician will occur once a quarter. The 
applicant has indicated this visit will include an inspection of the fence, landscaping conditions, 
and other structural features. The site is entirely self-monitored, unstaffed, and will connect directly 
to the central office where personnel will be alerted of any malfunction or breach of security. The 
applicant also submitted a statement that the lease agreement between U.S. Cellular and the 
property owner states that the if the tower is inoperable, abandoned or no longer being used for 
a period of 12 months, that the tower will be removed within 90 days.   
 
There will be no impact to existing traffic patterns. The pole will be designed to allow for co-location 
on this site. In addition to the proposed antennas that will be installed by U.S. Cellular to the site, 
the tower will be able accommodate at least one other carrier. 
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS: 
Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) has reviewed the proposed cell tower at 4510 Chadwick Road and has 
no objections.  The site & utility plans do not show the existing natural gas & water infrastructure 
along Chadwick Road.  These should be identified to provide potential utility conflict information 
to the contractor. 
 
The electric utility has a transformer on Chadwick at the driveway entrance that will be used for 
the point of connection rather than the transformer location on the plan. 
 
The applicant is working with CFU on pricing and timelines to be the last mile provider for the 
fiber. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Planning and Zoning Commission has the option of gathering any comments from the 
Planning and Zoning Commission and public and continue the discussion at the next Planning 
and Zoning Commission meeting on June 14th or make a recommendation to City Council with 
the following conditions.   

1) Any comments or direction specified by the Planning & Zoning Commission. 
2) Conformance to all city staff recommendations and technical requirements.  

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

Discussion 
5/24/2023 

 .   
 

  
  

 
Attachments:   

Location map 
Site plan 
Color illustration 
FFA approval  
Engineering Statement 

 
 

27

Item 4.



Gre
en

Cre
ek

Greenhill Trail

CedarHeightsDrTrail

â

â

â

â

â

â

â

Ch
ad

wic
k R

d

Cedar Hill Rd

Cedar Heights Dr

E Greenhill Rd

C-1

C-2

R-1

R-2

MU

A-1

4506

4521

4507

4526

4510

4618

4606

4619

4615

4508

281
1

4500

Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission
May 24, 2023

Communication Tower at
4510 Chadwick Road
(CT23-001)

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Orchard Dr

Rainbow Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
R d

C enter St

W Ridgeway Ave

Ma
in

St

E Greenhill Rd

W 12th St

W 1st St

E Vikin

gRd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

SM
ain

St

L incoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

W
Green hill Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27

£¤218

£¤20 £¤63

^
Location

Map

28

Item 4.



29

Item 4.



30

Item 4.



31

Item 4.



32

Item 4.



33

Item 4.



34

Item 4.



35

Item 4.



36

Item 4.



37

Item 4.



38

Item 4.



39

Item 4.



40

Item 4.



photo sim notes:

1. interpretation of the general appear-
ance of the proposed installation. each 
simulation is based on the scaling crite-
ria or assumptions identified.
2. an object of known height was not 
available for reference in the direct 
vicinity of the tower location, limiting 
reliability of the height interpretation.
3. the horizon line at the proposed tow-
er base is not visible; a horizon line has 
been estimated at the tower base for the 
photo simulations.
4. photo simulations generated using 
a similar tower of similar height at a 
similar distance; artistic interpretations 
used to estimate the approximate tower 
size and appearance.
5. the difference in elevation betwen the 
photograph location and tower location 
has been taken into consideration.
6. topographical features between the 
photograph location are interpreted as 
best as possible. visibility of the tower 
will be drastically reduced within areas 
of mature vegetation and valleys and 
increased within large open fields at 
higher elevations.
7. a structural analysis was not includ-
ed in the scope of work for the included 
photo simulations. equipment & mount-
ing depicted is for aesthetic & location 
approval only.

proposed 115’ stealth pole

624 water street 
prairie du sac, wi 53578

608.664.1449 voice
608.664.1549 fax

www.edgeconsult.com 

site information:
site name: elk run
site number: 305425
location: cedar falls, iowa
edge project #: 34123

alp           01/06/23            rev. 0
int.           date            description

2

1

41

Item 4.



06/24/2019s 1

EXISTING CONDITIONS
PHOTO TAKEN: 7/17/22 

proposed 115’ stealth pole

624 water street 
prairie du sac, wi 53578

608.664.1449 voice
608.664.1549 fax

www.edgeconsult.com 

site information:
site name: elk run
site number: 305425
location: cedar falls, iowa
edge project #: 34123

PHoto simULation 1
photo location: photo is taken from 
the grassey area near the parking 
lot to the south of e greenhill rd 
facing southwest

int.           date          description
alp           01/06/23            rev. 0

42

Item 4.



06/24/2019s 1

EXISTING CONDITIONS
PHOTO TAKEN: 7/17/22 

624 water street 
prairie du sac, wi 53578

608.664.1449 voice
608.664.1549 fax

www.edgeconsult.com 

site information:
site name: elk run
site number: 305425
location: cedar falls, iowa
edge project #: 34123

PHoto simULation 2
photo location: photo is taken from 
the north end of chadwick rd facing 
west

int.           date          description
alp           01/06/23            rev. 0

proposed 115’ stealth pole

43

Item 4.



Mail Processing Center
Federal Aviation Administration
Southwest Regional Office
Obstruction Evaluation Group
10101 Hillwood Parkway
Fort Worth, TX 76177

Aeronautical Study No.
2022-ACE-7908-OE

Page 1 of 6

Issued Date: 03/30/2023

Kathy Mayhew
US Cellular Corporation - VA
3806 Thirlane Road, NW
Roanoke, VA 24019

** DETERMINATION OF NO HAZARD TO AIR NAVIGATION **

The Federal Aviation Administration has conducted an aeronautical study under the provisions of 49 U.S.C.,
Section 44718 and if applicable Title 14 of the Code of Federal Regulations, part 77, concerning:

Structure: Monopole 305425 Elk Run
Location: Cedar Falls, IA
Latitude: 42-29-50.30N NAD 83
Longitude: 92-24-47.78W
Heights: 898 feet site elevation (SE)

124 feet above ground level (AGL)
1022 feet above mean sea level (AMSL)

This aeronautical study revealed that the structure does not exceed obstruction standards and would not be a
hazard to air navigation provided the following condition(s), if any, is(are) met:

It is required that FAA Form 7460-2, Notice of Actual Construction or Alteration, be e-filed any time the
project is abandoned or:

_____ At least 10 days prior to start of construction (7460-2, Part 1)
__X__ Within 5 days after the construction reaches its greatest height (7460-2, Part 2)

Based on this evaluation, marking and lighting are not necessary for aviation safety. However, if marking/
lighting are accomplished on a voluntary basis, we recommend it be installed in accordance with FAA Advisory
circular 70/7460-1 M.

This determination expires on 09/30/2024 unless:

(a) the construction is started (not necessarily completed) and FAA Form 7460-2, Notice of Actual
Construction or Alteration, is received by this office.

(b) extended, revised, or terminated by the issuing office.
(c) the construction is subject to the licensing authority of the Federal Communications Commission

(FCC) and an application for a construction permit has been filed, as required by the FCC, within
6 months of the date of this determination. In such case, the determination expires on the date
prescribed by the FCC for completion of construction, or the date the FCC denies the application.

44

Item 4.



Page 2 of 6

NOTE: REQUEST FOR EXTENSION OF THE EFFECTIVE PERIOD OF THIS DETERMINATION MUST
BE E-FILED AT LEAST 15 DAYS PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION DATE. AFTER RE-EVALUATION
OF CURRENT OPERATIONS IN THE AREA OF THE STRUCTURE TO DETERMINE THAT NO
SIGNIFICANT AERONAUTICAL CHANGES HAVE OCCURRED, YOUR DETERMINATION MAY BE
ELIGIBLE FOR ONE EXTENSION OF THE EFFECTIVE PERIOD.

This determination of No Hazard is granted provided the following conditional statement is included in the
proponent's construction permit or license to radiate:

Upon receipt of notification from the Federal Communications Commission that harmful interference is being
caused by the licencee's (permittee's) transmitter, the licensee (permittee) shall either immediately reduce the
power to the point of no interference, cease operation, or take such immediate corrective action as is necessary
to eliminate the harmful interference. This condition expires after 1 year of interference-free operation.

This determination is based, in part, on the foregoing description which includes specific coordinates, heights,
frequency(ies) and power. Any changes in coordinates, heights, and frequencies or use of greater power, except
those frequencies specified in the Colo Void Clause Coalition; Antenna System Co-Location; Voluntary Best
Practices, effective 21 Nov 2007, will void this determination. Any future construction or alteration, including
increase to heights, power, or the addition of other transmitters, requires separate notice to the FAA.This
determination includes all previously filed frequencies and power for this structure.

If construction or alteration is dismantled or destroyed, you must submit notice to the FAA within 5 days after
the construction or alteration is dismantled or destroyed.

This determination does include temporary construction equipment such as cranes, derricks, etc., which may be
used during actual construction of the structure. However, this equipment shall not exceed the overall heights as
indicated above. Equipment which has a height greater than the studied structure requires separate notice to the
FAA.

This determination concerns the effect of this structure on the safe and efficient use of navigable airspace
by aircraft and does not relieve the sponsor of compliance responsibilities relating to any law, ordinance, or
regulation of any Federal, State, or local government body.

A copy of this determination will be forwarded to the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) because the
structure is subject to their licensing authority.

If we can be of further assistance, please contact our office at (816) 329-2527, or marla.wierman@faa.gov. On
any future correspondence concerning this matter, please refer to Aeronautical Study Number 2022-ACE-7908-
OE.

Signature Control No: 557772373-578477667 ( DNE )
Marla Wierman
Technician

Attachment(s)
Frequency Data
Map(s)

45

Item 4.



Page 3 of 6

cc: FCC

46

Item 4.



Page 4 of 6

Frequency Data for ASN 2022-ACE-7908-OE

LOW
FREQUENCY

HIGH
FREQUENCY

FREQUENCY
UNIT ERP

ERP
UNIT

6 7 GHz 42 dBW
6 7 GHz 55 dBW
10 11.7 GHz 55 dBW
10 11.7 GHz 42 dBW

17.7 19.7 GHz 42 dBW
17.7 19.7 GHz 55 dBW
21.2 23.6 GHz 42 dBW
21.2 23.6 GHz 55 dBW
614 698 MHz 2000 W
614 698 MHz 1000 W
698 806 MHz 1000 W
806 901 MHz 500 W
806 824 MHz 500 W
824 849 MHz 500 W
851 866 MHz 500 W
869 894 MHz 500 W
896 901 MHz 500 W
901 902 MHz 7 W
929 932 MHz 3500 W
930 931 MHz 3500 W
931 932 MHz 3500 W
932 932.5 MHz 17 dBW
935 940 MHz 1000 W
940 941 MHz 3500 W

1670 1675 MHz 500 W
1710 1755 MHz 500 W
1710 1755 MHz 3280 W
1755 1780 MHz 3280 W
1850 1990 MHz 1640 W
1850 1910 MHz 1640 W
1930 1995 MHz 3280 W
1930 1990 MHz 1640 W
1990 2025 MHz 500 W
2110 2200 MHz 500 W
2110 2200 MHz 3280 W
2305 2360 MHz 2000 W
2305 2310 MHz 2000 W
2345 2360 MHz 2000 W
2496 2690 MHz 500 W
3550 3700 MHz 47 dBm
5150 5925 MHz 21 dBm
24250 25250 MHz 75 dBm

47

Item 4.



Page 5 of 6

27500 28350 MHz 75 dBm
37000 38600 MHz 75 dBm
38600 40000 MHz 75 dBm

48

Item 4.



Page 6 of 6

TOPO Map for ASN 2022-ACE-7908-OE

49

Item 4.



50

Item 4.



51

Item 4.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: May 24, 2023  

 SUBJECT: Zoning Code Text Amendment – Parking for Civic/Institutional Uses in 

Downtown Character District (TA23-002) 

 

 
Background 
 

The City received an inquiry 

from St. Patrick Catholic 

Church about constructing a 

new parking lot on a property 

they recently acquired that is 

located on the north side of 

7th Street between 

Washington Street and Main 

Street.  The property is 

across Clay Street from St. 

Patrick’s School and across 

7th Street from St. Patrick’s 

Church. The school, church, 

and vacant property are located in the Urban General (UG) frontage area within the 

Downtown Character District. The property is currently vacant land with no buildings. 

Previously another church was located on the site but has since been demolished.  

St. Patrick’s would like to use the lot for parking but in the future may build a daycare or 

other building on the site. There are a couple of challenges the church has identified 

regarding future use of the property.  They have indicated that the 2-story minimum 

height requirement for a new building may be problematic, as they are only 

contemplating a 1-story daycare center in the future. Secondly, in most zoning districts, 

as is the case here, parking is not generally allowed without a principal use on the 

property and the location of parking is based on setback standards relative to the 

52

Item 5.



 
 

principal buildings and uses on the site. The question is whether civic and institutional 

uses should be treated differently as they are generally located on larger or contiguous 

parcels, as you can see in the image above for St. Patrick’s school and church, Lincoln 

Elementary and the Methodist Church. Also, is the 2-story minimum height standard in 

the UG, UG2, and Storefront areas of the Downtown Character District problematic, 

given the small size of many properties and parking requirements for upper story uses.   

Analysis 
 

Parking Location Standards 

The intent of the Urban General and Storefront frontages in the Downtown Character 

District is to encourage buildings to be built close to the street so that street frontages 

are lined with buildings to support a pedestrian-friendly, mixed-use district. To achieve 

that goal, the regulating plan for the Downtown Character District contains a build-to line 

at the fronts of lots indicating where buildings should be aligned along the street. The 

parking setback line in the Urban General, Urban General 2, and Storefront frontages is 

generally about 30 feet behind the build-to line indicating where parking can be located.  

Along the side streets (generally the numbered streets that run perpendicular to the 

mid-block alleys), there is an area where parking can be placed closer to the street if it 

is enclosed within a building. See an excerpt from the Downtown regulating plan below 

with the red lines indicating the build-to area and the blue line representing the parking 

setback line.  Parking can be located anywhere behind the blue lines.  

 

 

53

Item 5.



 
 

 

It should be noted that parking lots in all zoning districts must be set back from 

streetside lot lines and abutting properties and screened with trees and shrubs. 

Following is a list of the parking setback rules for various zoning districts:  

 In residential zoning districts no parking is allowed in the front yard (area 

between the principal buildings and the street), required front yard or required 

side yards.  Required side yards are generally 10% of the lot width. Required 

front yards in these zones: 

o R-1:    30 feet 

o R-2, R-3: 25 feet 

o R-4:    20 feet 

 MU – Mixed Use District: 30 feet from major streets, 20 feet from interior streets 

and accessways 

 HWY-1 Commercial District: 20 feet  

 C or M Districts: 5 feet, but 10 feet when abutting a residential district 

 

There are several civic and institutional uses in the Downtown Character District, 

including St. Patrick Church and School, First Methodist Church, First Presbyterian 

Church, and Lincoln Elementary School.  Civic and Institutional uses such as churches 

and schools are often designed with open spaces, parking areas, and playgrounds in a 

campus-like setting, which in the downtown area often involves multiple adjacent 

properties. While Civic Buildings as designated on the regulating plan and as defined in 

the code, are exempt from certain standards in the new Character District Code, there is 

no specific exemption for parking lots, particularly when located on a separate lot from 

the principal use.  

 
The intent of the Downtown Character District Code is to facilitate development that is 

consistent with the adopted Downtown Vision Plan. One of the major objectives of the 

Vision Plan is to encourage future development that helps preserve the character of the 

Downtown area.  Churches and schools and other institutional uses are important to the 

character and livability of the downtown neighborhoods. Since they operate differently 

than commercial or residential uses, different rules may be warranted, provided they 

ensure that surrounding residential properties and public areas such as parks and 

public sidewalks are buffered from vehicular areas and glare from lights.  

 

Minimum Building Height in the Downtown Character District 

The 2-story minimum building height standard in the UG, UG2, and Storefront Areas is 

intended to ensure a minimum building scale along downtown streets, similar to the 

main street character along the parkade. The minimum height encourages development 

that fully utilizes downtown sites and building up instead of spreading out preserves 

54

Item 5.



 
 

larger areas behind for needed parking. That being said, there are many small 

properties downtown where forcing a second story that would require more parking 

makes development and redevelopment challenging and also sites where mixed-use, 

storefront-type development is not desired by the property owner, such as the case with 

many civic and institutional uses.  

 

Discussion of Solutions 

 

Minimum Building Height 

Staff have heard from several property owners that a second story would be challenging 

and was not within the anticipated scope of their project.  With such a small downtown 

area in Cedar Falls, the challenges of requiring a minimum building height may 

outweigh the benefits. Staff recommend eliminating the minimum height standard from 

the code.  

 

Parking Location Standards 

To provide more flexibility for civic and institutional uses in the Downtown Character 

District, staff suggests consideration of creating a special rule that would allow parking 

to be located forward of the parking setback line on the regulating plan, but with certain 

conditions that would ensure that parking areas are buffered and screened with 

landscaping and trees from public sidewalks and abutting properties. The following 

language is provided for discussion:  

 

On lots owned by and used for an allowed Civic or Institutional Use, parking 
may be located forward of the parking setback line, provided that:  

1. The parking area is on a lot that contains the subject Institutional or 
Civic Use or directly abuts or is across the street or alley from the Civic 
or Institutional Use;  

2. The parking area is setback a minimum of 10’ from any streetside lot 
line and parking setbacks from common lot lines according to the 
requirements of code shall apply;  

3. The parking area shall be landscaped according to the standards in 
Section 26-220(i), General landscaping of parking within all districts; 

4. If the lot shares a common lot line with a Neighborhood Small or 
Medium frontage lot, or a lot in a R-1 or R-2 District, the parking lot 
shall be set back a minimum of 5 feet from the common lot line and 
screened according to the standards in Section 26-220(i), General 
landscaping of parking areas within all districts.  

5. When a principal building is constructed on the site, the building must 
meet all standards and requirements, as applicable.      

 

 

 

55

Item 5.



 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the Commission discuss the proposals, 

provide direction to staff, and consider setting a public hearing for a future meeting date.      

 

 
 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES 
 

Discussion 
5/24/2023 

 
 

 

56

Item 5.


	Top
	Item 1.	PZ minutes
	05-10-2023 P and Z Minutes

	Item 2.	RE: LUMA to update the area to "Neighborhood Commercial and Mixed Use" (LU 23-001) and Rezoning from C-1 to PC-2 for property at 702 LeClair St. (RZ23-002)
	1. PZ Staff Report Rezoning 702 Le Clair St.final
	2. ZoningLocationMap
	3. 22-1188-2023-04-06-Master Plan
	4. Rezoning Plat
	5. Building Concept Perspectives
	6. LOI
	7. Traffic Narrative

	Item 3.	Zoning Code Text Amendment - vinyl siding
	1- PZ memo.vinyl siding referral.5.24.23
	2 - excerpt 2021 PZ decision matrix

	Item 4.	communication tower at 4510 Chadwick Rd (CT23-001)
	1. Staff reportf
	2. ZoningLocationMap
	3. front pages of drawings
	4. survey
	5. site plan c101
	6. wall detail
	7. elevations
	8. landscape plan
	9. photo sims for zoning application
	10. FAA approval
	11. Engineer statement required by state law

	Item 5.	Zoning Code Text Amendments - parking for institutional uses and minimum building height
	1 - Memo.PZ. parking for civic uses in CD-DT.5.24.23

	Bottom

